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MR. JUSTICE GROSS:

This case represents another sad poststript te the upheavals
in: the Lloyd's market of some years ayol.

By application notice dated 11“‘ﬁarch 2004, the Claimant
{"Lloyd's®) claims summary judgme: er Part 24, CPR
against the Defendant ("Mr. Tropp') for:

*%,. The sum of £256,811.16..

2. Interest in the sum of £236,748.63 up to 19 August 2002

and continuing at the rate of £48,79 per day.

Becaise the DeLendant has no real progpect of succeugfu11y
defending the claim and there is no other reason why the case
should be disposed of at trial.w

‘The principal sum claimed repreaents the Equitas re1nsurance
premium due pursuant to a reinsurance contract dated 3r
September, 1895 ("the Reinsurance’ gonbract"), entered into
between Mr. Tropp and Equitas Reinsurance Limited ("ERL"),

the benefit of which was a551gncd by BRL Lo Lloyd's, as

‘evidenced by a Deed of Assignment dated 27 October, 1996.
‘Pausing there, the Reinsurance contract was &an intégral part
©f the Lloyd’'s market Reconsgtruction and Renewal scheme

{"R & R"}; the history of that scheme is well-known and

provides the context in which the Reinsurance contract was

entered into. Mr. Tropp came into the category of

non-accepting names. As to the: make-up of the principal sum
claimed, it is comprised of various elements, recorded in
Bchedule H to the Particulars of Claim as Tollows:

"Losses declared to 31 December 1994 but not called by 15

March 1596 {£87,024.00)
Deferred losses declared at 15 March 1996 (£5,373.00)
Called but unpaid losses at 15 March 1996 (including interest
charged to 31 December 1994) {£95,085.00)
Interest and associated exchange. rate adjustments from 1
January 1995 Lo 15 March 1996 (£9,371.00)
guitas additional (premium)/release (£114,439.00)
Total (£311,282.00)*

There was no disagreement with the relevant test for summary

dudgment; both parties expressed themselves contenlt with the

summary which I ventured in Babcock v Mitsui [2002) EWHC 2728
{(Comm}, at para. 24, where I said Chis:

WIn the light of the guldance given by Swain & Hillman...and
Three Rivers DC v Bank of England..., an application under



‘Part 24 should bé approdched as follows:

(1)  Ordinarily; disputes are to be resoclved at ‘trial, on
- the evidence and after comp?etxon of disclosure and
othel pre trial procedures; in that sense, Parxt 24
confers ofi the. court an exceptional power.

{2) Properly used, the Court's power under Part 24 is a
salutary power; it is there, ulbimately in the
interests of all concexned, to dispose of cases {(or
issues) that are not fir for trial ab all.

(3) The test of whether z casg {(or issue) is fit. for trial,
is whether there is a real prospect of the c¢laim or
defence, as the case may be, succeeding; “real® is
equivalent: to "realistic! and is to be contrasted with
"fancifuld.

{4} It is nob appropriate to utilise Part 24 for the
purpose of conducting a wini-trial on the document&
without disclicsure and without oral eviderice.

In a nutshell, ¥Mr. Yeo who appeared for Lloyd's submitted
that the case was appropriate for sumpary 3udgmenL because,
as a matter of law, Mr. Tropp had no real pzosmect of

succes sruIIV‘defendlng it. Mr. Yeo relied in particular on
the following matters: (1) First, on the conclusive evidence
provisions of ¢l.5.10 of the Réinsurance contrack, subject
only to manifest error of which none could even arguably be
shown here; (2) Secondly, on c¢l.5.5 of the Reinsurance
contract, which, in respect of the Eguitas premium
constituted 2 "pay now; sue lédter; no set-off" clause; (3)
Thirdly, on the es tabllshed principle that there was no
questicn of Mr, Tropp having a right of rescission, which
would impact to the detriment of third party policy hoWders
This aDDroaCh, Mr. Yeo submitted, was supported by {at least)
the following decisions: Society of Lloyd‘s v Leighs [1997]
CLC 755 (Colman J); 1,398 (CAJ; Society of Lioyd's v Fraser
{1998} CLC 1,630 {CA): Price v Society of Lloyd's[2002] 1
Lloyd's Rep IR 453 {Colman J}. In the llghL of this legal
framework, the reality was that Mr. Tropp's position was
hopeless and summwary judgrnent should be entered.

Before proceeding further, it is appropriate to set out the
terms of c¢ll. 5.5, 5.9 (given a point raised by Mr. Tropp)
and 5.10 of the Reinsurance contract:

“5.5 kFach Name shall be obliged to, and shall pay his Name's

Premium in all respects, free and clear from any set-off,
ovnterCWaim or other deduction on any account whatsoever
ncluding in each case, without prejudice to the generality

cf the £ormg01dg, in respect of any claim against ZRL, bhe



‘Substitute Rgent, any Managing Agent, his Members' Agent,
Lloydis or any ouher person whatsoever, and:

{a) in connection with any procemdlnqs which may ‘be: brought
to. enforce the Namels Obllgatlon to pay his Name's
Premium, the Name hereby waives any ¢laim to any stay
of execution and consents to the immediate enforcement
of any judgment obtained;

{b} thé Name shall not ‘be entitled to issue
'prooeedlngs and no cause of action shall arise or
acerue in connection with his obligation to pay his
Name's Premium unless the Jlgblllty for his Name's
Premium has been discharged in full, and

(¢} the Wame shall not seek injunetive or any relief for
~ the purpose, or which would have the result, of
preventing ERL or any’ assignee of ERL- from cnforc1ng
the Name's obligation to pay his Name's Premium.

5.9. ERL shall be entitied to set-off against the Name's
Premium of any Name who is not an aecepting Name any amount
which ERL would otherwise be obliged to pay to that Name
pursuant to clause 3 as reinsurer of any Syndicate 1992 and
Prior Business insofar as it relates to any personal stop
loss contract or estate protection plan of that Name.

5.10. For the purpose of calculating the amount of any
Name's Premium as set out in Tlause 5.1{b} and the
amount of any Name's Premium discharged by the transfer
of assets or the amount realised through the liquidation
of Eunds at Lloyd's for application in or towards any
Name's Premium the records of and calculations performed
by the CSU shall be conclusive evidence as between Lhe
Name and ERL in the absence of any manifest error...'

In hig persistent but always courteous submissicns in
response to the application, Mr. Tropp made a large number of
points which Mr. Yeo consistently for his part with his duty
towards an unrepresented opponent, helpfully summarised as
follows. There were, said Mr. Yeéo, eight categories of
alleged manifest error to be extracted Ffrom Mr. Tropp's
submissions.

"{a) MSU detsrmination ocutside 'intention of
parties?

{k} AUA 9 had no authority bo act for D...
(c) Settlement.

{d) Inclusion of all of his losses in APH syndicates...



{e) Failure to include specific 'credits:'...
{i) Share of syndicate assets
{(ii) Profits from syndicates.
(1i3)PSL proceeds actual and acerued.. ,

(f) Failure to include cther more general credits
ariging from alleged misrepresentations, failure
to regulate/investigate/claw back. ..

{g) Title to sue...
(h) Variation in reported total RITC debts,. .

it is appropriate to say 'a little more about certain of the
Lhemes developed by Mr. Tropp in oral argument. and drawn from
this rdther more global summary.

First, submitted Mr. Tropp, he had entered intd an oral
settlement agreement with Lloyd's. This agreement had been
entered into orally between Mr. Tropp and Mr. Ron Sandler,
then Lloydis Chief Executive, on or aboul 24th/25th March
1887, “The terms of the agreement were that

(1) Mr. Tropp would pay $5,000 in full and final
- settlement of his obligations.

(2} Mr. Tropp would sign a full release for Llovd's
and all other parties concerned.

{3)  The "old" form of individuzl settlement agreement
would be used, which did not require Mr. Tropp to
acknowledge the debt dus from him had. there been
no settlement, a figure necessarily substantially
in excess of the settlement figure.

Secondly, the syndicates had not been undertaking
insurance and Reinsurance business in the years in guestion,
they had simply been carrying forward balance sheet losszes
from previous yvears when Mr. Tropp had not been a hame on the
syndicate or syndicates in question. Against this background,
the cazleulation of the premium due from him was cutwith the
intention of the parties and/or there was manifest error.
Manifest error, as was common ground, depended on contractual
interpretation.

Thirdly, Mr. Tropp swphasised that he had no history as
a litigating name. He did not wish to unwind the R & R
scheme or the Reinsurance contract as a whole. He only
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wished ‘to unwind a few syndicate outcomes. e had, he 'said,
been.placed in. the wrong syndicates. Hes had given '
instructions that he should nob be placed into: the APH
uyndlcatcs‘

Pourthly, Lioyd's had no title to sue. IE claiméd as an
assignee. but had already recovered the amount seciired by the
assignment 0f the RITE débts.

Tlfﬁhl?} tr. Tropp had sought o resigd dn order to
avoid being @ hawme on the 1891 year, but urongfu_ly his
Memberts Agent had lalled 0 give effect to his ¥esignation.
Lloyd 5. wds ‘angverable for that failure,

Sixthly, his syndicate reserves had been dﬂpleted
thereby inflating the premium set to be due from him.

Seventhly; against this background, summary judgment

should be refused. ALL the more so when Mr. Tropm S numercus
flequests under Part 18 and Part 31 were taken into:

congideration. The information and documents which he sought

and which ‘it is unnecessary to set cut here would shed light

on the watters already summarised. Summary judgment should
not be ordered without giving him at least the opportunity of
obtaining such material.

Mr . Tropp-added that he had placed before the court the

most evocative iltems, as he put it, of the evidence in the

case, but these were, he szaid, specimens or exampleés and,
were the matter to ge to trial, theres would he more.

In wy Jjudgment the context of the present dispute
and the applicable legal framework may be summaiised as
follows:

{1} It is necessary to distinguish sharply between the
position of Lloyd's and the position of an individual
Name's Managing and Members' Agents. In particular, as
Lo Managing Rdents in Llioyds v Clementson [199%5]

1 Lioyds Rep. IR 307, page 330, Steyn IJ (as he then
was) said this:

F... the name relies on and assumes the risk of the
honesty and skill of his managing agent. Manifestly in
the Lloyds svstem there is no assumptlon of
responsibility by Lloyds to supervise the investment or
underwriting decisions of managing agents. That does
not mzan that Lloyds has a licence to act in bad faith
for improper purposes or cotherwise in an unlawful
manner, but thal wmerely means that such action would bhe
ultra vires.?



{2) The:'R & R scheme.wés'bgthucomplex-and;iundamentalwtq
Lloydis! ability to address the -crisis facing the market by
the early 1%90s. The history has been set out very fully in
previous decisions. For example, in Leighs {Colman J) at
bages 761-2 apd in, Fraser (Court of 2ppeal) at pages 1634 and
following. It suffices to -setb out here an extract from the
Court of Appeal judgment in Fraser at pp 1635-6.

“By 1981 or 1992 it had become ¢lear. that the market was
in a state of crisis. There was & rigk that the ¢laims
which would be made upon Names or were outstanding wers
Yiable. to overwhelm the resdurces of somz of them. The
Reinsurance structures within the market were themselves
unlikely toibe able fully to protect Names against their
liabilities. Syndicates were finding it impossible to
close certain yearg:  Reinsurance to close was:
impractical or unavailable. This sericus situation had
sibstantially come abdul becauss of one :or nore of the
. various matters to which we have previously referred,
but whatever their causes the gdifficulties for the
market and all those involved in it require to be
addressed and the Society had of necessity to look for
solutions and seek to provide remedies ~ the 'R & R
scheme. The measures adopted involved the Society using
its byelaw making powers, It effectively introduced a
compulsory Reinsurance -and Run-0ff scheme. It was put
to the members of the Society in 19%6. An extremely
lengthy and complex offer document. was published. Those
who signify their assent to and willingness to
co-operate with the proposal had the advantage of
various financial arrangements which whilst not
affecting their ultimate: liability Ffacilitated their
discharge of it.

Those who did not accept the proposal, the non-accepting
Names, were nevertheless required to Run-Off their
cutstanding liabilities dn accordance with the
reconstruction scheme and reinsure them as provided for
in the 'Equitas' Reinsurance contract which was an
essential part of the scheme. This contract provided a
method whereby a single legal entity of assured ability
and willingness to discharge the insurance liabilities
of Names to those who had placed ‘insurances in the
Lloyds market from outside (as well as form inside the
market) could do so in an orderly and assured fashion.
Part of this Reinsurance scheme, which was effectively a
Reinsurance to close, required the individual Names to
pay a Reinsurance premium to Eguitas which corresponded



to an. assessment of each name’s odbgtanding ilab1lltles
accrued in the future dowd to the end of 1952, 'The
contract or related contracts had alsc to make provision
for: the orderly appllcablon of the asséts of the
individual Names within the market, lncludlng theiyr
assets held By or formally held by their maraging
agents, theiy ex1sting Reinsurance contracts, thedir
‘varicus trust funds and deposits ‘and the litigation. Fund
‘which had resulted f£rom the successful, Iirigayion of
‘groups of Names againsg those who had culpably nok
“digcharged their duty of safeguarding the interests of
Nawmes, It was in the tre aLment ‘of sugh assets that the’
-settlement document primarily distinguished between
‘those who accepted the scheme and those who did not.#

It is by now beyond argument that the R & R scheme and
the Reinsurance contract were both validly entered into.

{3) The provisions of clause 5.10 are ‘emirently
understandable against the background of the R & R
.‘8cheme. I can do no better than to respectfully refer to
‘and -adopt the observations in this regard of

Hobhouse 1J, as he then was, in Fraser at pages 1658-9
and Colman J in Price at pp 465-7 and 45%59. It is again
necessary to read what they said. Hobhouse 1.J said this:

'“Clauuc 5.10 is drafted in comprehensive terins. It i
not. an unusual type of clause and is in’ pr1nc1ple
.ampromllate to this contract. TIf as discussed in the
preceding parts of this judgment... the applicants had
been able {¢ show that the qOClety or Eguitas or CSU
{now MSU) had misconstrued the contract, then it would
have followed that the calculations would have had to
have been reopened. Bub that is not the case. The
records of and calculations performed by MSU are to be
conclusive evidence of the amount of thHe name's premium

Fact as set out in Clause 5.1(b) and the amount by which it

' has been discharged by the transfer of assets or other
suns realised, save for any manifest error. The
calculations have been produced together with the
figures upon which they are based derived from the
records of the CS5U. The exercise has been a highly
complex one. It has necessitated the CSU in collecting
and collating the figures from each syndicate of which
the given name was at any material time a member. The
resultant. calculations led to the assessment of a
Reinsurance premium which the name is reguired to pay
under Clause 5.

The first argument of the applicants was that they were
entitled to inspect and check the accuracy of the
records in the possession of the MSU and the figures
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derived from them, This submission involved. a
concradiction of both: the eXpress wording and clear

intention of Clause 5.10. The MSU wag the body which

was -charged w1th the: rcspon51b111Ly for undertaklng that
task and it is the fruitg of their work that are to be
taken. for the purposes of sett31ng the 11ab111ty of the
name for his Reingurance premium under Clause 5. It was
argucd that it was dwpossible to tell whethexr there was
any ‘manifEst erroxrt in the figures unless such an
investigation was carried out. This too was a
contradiction of thé provisions of this clause. The
*lguzcs are to beé taken as correct unless in their own
terms they manlfesLWy cannot be correct or if the name
by pointing to some other piece of evidence can
demonstrate that they clearly cannot be correct in some

espect. 1t is for the name to identify and demonstrate
séme clear error. The appllcants who are relying ugon
this point have riot shown any arquable case that they
are able to do this.

It will be appreciated from what we have said that we
have not accepted one of the arguments put forward by
counsel for the Socxcty, that only internal
inconsistencies in the figures can be looked at for the
purpese of showing manifest error. Had, for an QXumple,
a name been able to show cleﬁrly that another name’*s
data had been used in place of his that would have
sufificed Lo show at least a arguable case of manifest
2Yror. . "

Colman J. said this:

"{i} The Reinsurance of the 1992 and prior undelwrltlng
yvears was fundamental to the R & R settlement scheme.
The calculation of the Reinsurance premium was a matter
of immense difficulty, not least becauss of the impact
on market exposures of the LMX spiral. The reserving
exercise necessary to calculate the global premium to
be paid by the Lloyds market to Equitas was undertaken
with great care and after taking comprehensive outside
expert actuarial advice... The global figure thus
arrived at was a conseguence of a process of reserving
by reference to the book of business of each syndicate
and the part of the global premium attributed to each
syndicate was derived from that syndicate's exposures.
The members of the syndicate then became liable to pay
what was called 'the Bquitas additional premium' in
accordance with the extent of their participation in
the syndicate. ..

(i) The R & R scheme involved an offer being made to
underwriting members of Lloyds which they were obliged
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to accept by September 1996. Whéther they accepted or

not they were. obliged to pay the Egquitas premium. They
had. to pay their portion of these losses which had been
ddentified @5 accruing to their syndicateés up to 15th
March 19%6; including those attributable to: 1993. 1If

they had accepted Lloyds offer in consideration of

waiving all claims #dgainst those involved in the
underwriting in respect of the 1992 .and prior years,
theéy were entitled to what were termed "debt credits’. ..

€ impact of these debt credits was to reduce the total
mount of what would otherwise be payable to Lioyds by
‘the member. Payment -of the Equitas ‘premium was to be
made to Lloyds and mot to Eguitas because. .. Equitas
had validly assigned the right to payment of the premium
to Lloyds. S

(iii) As part of the process leading up to the putting
forward .of the offer contained in the settlemént offer
document:, Llovds provided to each member an indicative
finality statement in March 1996. This as based on

. syndicated declared results up o 318t December 1994 .

It showed an indicative or provisional calculation of
the Equitas additional premium. Then in August 1996
Lloyds provided to each wmember a finality statement.
This was based on the latest underwriting information
and reserve figures in respect of each syndicate which
had become available since prepiration of the indicative
finality statement. These were the figures by reference
to which the underwriting members were to decide whether
to accept the terms of the R & R sebtlement cxpressed in
the settlement offer document. Again, it showed the
amounts payable in respect of accrued losses and in
respect of the Equitas additional premium.

{iv)  Following the coming inte operation of the R & B
scheme, MSU sent out to all members an account notifying
them of the amount which was due from each. Tf the

member had accepted R & R debt credits should shown. If

the member had not accepted R & R these would not be

:shown and no deductions would be made on that

account.. .. ®

The further passage which I must read from Colman J's

Judgment is this:

"Uniess Mr. and Mrs Price can establish that there has
heen a manifest® -- -

and the word "manifest" is italicised in Colman J's

Judgment - -
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*error in ‘the records: of and caleulations performed by
MSU, those calculations are conclugive evidende of
thedy Bguitas premium: by reason of Clatse 5.10 ©f the
Reinsurance contract. In other’ words, they are
precluded from going behind the stated figurés unless
they can show an. arguable case that the figures are.
obviously wrong. This was decided by the Court: of.
ABppeal in Fraser:... T would add that givern the _
¢ircumstances described in my judgment in, Leighs, which
gave rise to the caleulation of the market reserves and
the consequent. Equitas premium; it is hardly surprising
that theé Reilnsurancée contract- should have contained a
provision directed to preventing Names ‘from challenging
Lloyds' calculations. The xeserving operation was a
matter of no little Gontroversy and the whole
commercial viability of the R & R settlement: rested on
the certainty of Lloyds:® premium calculations, On
afalysis... the réal substance of Mr. and Mrs Priceis.
complaint is thatﬁﬁomephing~musp_hayeggone;awry‘with
‘the resexrve and pramiim Calculati@nswfgrftheir _
syndicate and that is exactly the area of investigation
Cwhid¢h Clause 5.10 is designed to exclude...®

{4) As to the appropriateness of clause 5.5 and its
impact I again have regard to the judgment of Hobhouse LJ in
Fraser,; where at page 16492 he said this:

"This was an R & R scheme within as has been held the
powers of the Society. Clause 5.5 was an obviously
appropriate part of the Reinsurance contract which was an
essential part of that scheme. 2 no set-off clause is a
standard type of clause... which is a standard ¢lause Found
in Names agreements with their agents in Lloyds.*

As Leighs made clear (CA at pp 1407-1408) this is so
even if the claims against Lloyd's are claims in fraud.

{(5) Names cannot rescind their membership of Lloyd's
nor their underwriting commitments, even if they had been
induced to take up membership as a result of megligent or
frauvdulent misrepresentations. That iuch is clear from
Leighs and Frager, both judgments of the Court of Appeal.

(6)  Finally, it is plain beyond argument that

My, Tropp was validly bound to the Reinsurance contract. See

Leighs {again in the Court of Appeal) and the Judgment which
I gave on 20th January of this year dealing with an sarlier
agpect of these proceedings at paragraph 15.

I would add cnly this in connection with manifest error
and the judgment of the Court of Appeal in Fraser. The
concluding wording of Hobhouse LJ was emphatically not an
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invitation to reopen the: R & R scheme oy the Reinsurance
contract. The wording dn Clause 5.10, "manifest error" and
the linkage between. those wdrds and the prior wording “the
records of .and caleulations pérformed, suggest that this

¢lause necessarily hasﬁa;réiétiVéEY‘narrow.méaning} Tt dg

certainly not an invitation to mount ‘arguments based on the
suggested inappropriaﬁeﬁeéS?Qﬁ.tﬁe underlying business. of the
syndicates or any anbterion

rrors- on the part, for instance,

of Members' Agents in their conduct towards the name.

Against thig background it ds plain that most of

Mr. Tropp's arguments arg, with respect to him, hopeless and
can be dismissed withoul: further ado. Although at ‘one stage

it appeared that Mr. Tropp had = "wrong years" defence {that
is, he was being charged for years when he. was not on the
syndicate or syndicates in guesticn) on examination it became
clear that his claim_was;not,abputithat'at all; it was a
complaint about how the syndicates had been managed. Rut
complaints about whether the Managing Agents vwere propexly’
running the syndicate”s business and whether such business
was properly insurance Or reinsurdnce business or, as

Mr. Tropp put it, no business at all, do not lie against
Lloyd's; even if they did, the most that they will do, given
the provisions of the Reinsurance contract, is entitle

Mr. Tropp to advance a counterclaim. They would not provide
a defence, let alone a defence with a real prospect of
success to this c¢laim.

Iikewise the allegation that Mr. Tropp had wrondgly,
whether innocently, negligently of fraudulently been placed
on the wrong syndicates, discloses no arguable defence and no
manifest error, even arguably. In like vein complaints as to
the syndicates depletion 0f their reserves go nowhere. As
Mr. Yeo put it, these it may have been said by Mr. Tropp,
either amount to kick-backs or a triple profit commission.
1t matters not. If they were kick-backs and there. was
misconduct that, at tha mogt, could ultimately give rise Lo a
counterclaim. So far as a triple profit commission is
concerned, the only evidence before me is that those were
allowed for in terms of the R & R scheme and are, in any
event, subject to adjustment. But even if that were wrong or
the contrary was arguable, it would matter nob at all.

Equally, it is plain that it is not now open to
Mr. Tropp to unwind any of his commitments or to rescind his
participation in any syndicates. Such rescission, upon which
I have already dwelt, would involve detriment to third party
policy holders. Other suggested defences would invelve going
behind the premium calculations in precisely the fashion
precluded by the authorities to which I have already
referred. To take ong example, a point Mr. Tropp raised
about records, as it seems fo me it is plain that it is only
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records produced. for the purposes of the calenlation din
Clauvse 5.10 which are relevant 4dn this regard. Qtherwise one
ig back ‘to. the argument unsuccessfully advanced by Mr: and
Mrs. Price in the case to which I have referred; that
something must have gone awry.

So far as Mr. Tropp's resignation defénce is coficerned,
that too; I regret, is hopcless. Uncé réscission goées out of
the window then the most that can arise m & resignation
defence is that thére was a fault on the part of his Members®
agents. On the face of it, any such claim does not lie
agalnst Lloyd's at all. But let it be assumed that it. did,
the proper avenue is by way of counterclaim.

. As to the application of various credits available, or
said £o be available to Mr. Tropp, some, say Liovd's, have
been applied or if they have not besen the failure is down to
a Members' Agent not passing over the money or indeed ‘to

Mr: Tropp (in the case of monies due under personal stop loas

ifisurance) not signing the necessary assignmernt form so as to

lay his hands on the money. But be all that as it may,
Lloydis in any event has no obligation to allow any such

credit against the monies claimed. (See Clause 5.9 of the
Reinsurance: contract.)

Mr. Tropp's submission as to the assignment is likewise

biad, essentially for the reason given by Mr. Yeo in his
skeleton argument:

"Whether or not Lloyd's has already recovered the
amount secured by the assignment of the RITC Debts
does not affect Lloyd's title or. ability to
continue to collect those RITC Debts, since the
assignment was a valid assignment at law. "

Further and yet again, even if all this is wrong the
highest it can be put is that Mr. Tropp has his remedy by way
©of counterclaim. Clause 5.5 it must be underilined and
re-emphasiged does not preclude counterclaims. But still no
defence is disclosged to the Lioyd's claim.

I should add by way of some small comfort that so far as
the PSL funds are concerned it would appear that the money ig
available to be credited against any sums dug from Mr. Tropp
to Lloyd*'s, provided only he signs the reguisite assignment
form. For clarifying that I am grateful for Mr. Yeo and those
instructing him.

Still further in the light of all these matters, it is
apparent that the provision of further information and
disclosure in respect of the issues with which I have so far
dealt would prove of no assistance to Mr. Tropp in resisting
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the Lloydts claim for summary judgment. For thalt reason it

would not. be appropridte to hold up the applicatisn for
stmmary judgment pending the granting of such disclosure or
further information if Mr. Tropp was othérwise entitled to
g

Lagtly in this vein, as Mr. Tropp himself has said; what
he has placed before the court are the most evocative
ef'mples of the matters of which he complains. It follows
that if ‘those prOVlde 10 dciengeq then other examples cannot
realistically be said to assis

In summary so: far the proposed. defences with which T have
dealt either do not disclose any arguable complaint agalnst
Lloyd's or they fall .foul of Clauses 5.5 or $.10, at most
they give rise toa counterc1a1m, or fail to- dl&ClDSE

manifest error, :or they are precluded by authority blndlng on.
me. That the scheme should be stringent and fairly narrow is
1hardly gurprising. For Lloyd‘& to put together a settlement
wof this naturs, as embodied in the B & R scheme, 1t was:
necessary to achieve certainty on the calculations of ‘the
Equitas premium and necessary to ensure that monies were paid

without set-off or other deduction.

There remains the question of whether a setilement

agreenent was arguably cntered into. As it seems Lo me, this
Assue requires closer examination. It is certainly clear

that if there is an avguable defence of settlement then that
wpuld entitle Mr. Tropp bto leave to defend and would réesult
in, at least so far ads the settlement question was concerned,
thc dismissal of the part 24 application.

The question of settlement is o be addressed in two

pericds. The first concerned, as I understand it, a period
©of, roughly, 8th Novembeér 1995 to 28th October 1996. Here, as

I understood him, Mr. Tropp claims to have been strung along.
It is not Eﬂtwrely ¢lear whether he says that there was a

settlement akb this time. This pericd I should note does not

concern Mr. Sandler at all. BAs it seems to me, anything
short of an allegation of settlement would not assist

Mr. Tropp, but in respect of this episode any allegation of
settlement is hopeless. I need only read from one letter and
that is Mr. Tropp's own letter of the 16th November 1995, to
a Mr. Harboard-Hamond of Mr. Tropp's Members' Agents:

"You will be aware that last week financial recovery
and I had reached agreement in principle on a
settlement, nonetheless the documentation remains to be
drafted (by the Society's counsel}) and executed by both
sides. I am hopeful LhaL this will cccour, but pending
the moment of mutual execulicn settlement has not yet
happened. In contemplation of the possibility that it
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vet may’ not it is only prudent ‘that ‘T continue witlh
measures to sstablish the readiness to execute instead
en gome serious unpleasantness should our agreemeDL not
go tor documentation within the next couple of weeks. v

It is plaln from thal: passage that Mr. Tropp himself
dld niot for -a moment think there had been. a settlement and it
is dlso plain from the final lines of that. passage that
Mz, Troppy, although hoping that there would be a settlement,
“was gearing himself up to take such action as he thought
approprlate ‘to. quard against the p0331b111ty that 4it might
‘not- happen.. This period does not therefore assist Mr. Tropp
‘ 11, but it may be relevant to the matters next Lo be
Considered because of the emphasis, understood by both
Partigs, on the need for a settlement agreement to be in

‘writing.,

With regard to the alleged settlement agreement of the
24th oy the 25th March 1997, it is. pertinent to pull together
& number of. documentary: e: changes - I start with the Lloydis?
dnternal memorandum from Mr. Sandler to Mr. Holden of 25th
March 1997, on which Mr. Tropp placed considerable reliance.
The memorandum reads as follows:

"I spoke last night to Rick Tropp. He is prépared to
pay $5,000 in full and final settlement of his
fobTigatlons He understands that his funds at Lloyds
either have been or will be drawn down. I told him
that this offer was avceptable and- that you would be in
contact with him immediately in order to finalise the
necessary legal arxangements He 1s guite happv Lo
sign a full release but isg corcprned that he is not
called upen to acknowledge the gross total of his
obllgatlonq- I assured him thaL we would not issue a
writ against him whilst this process was being
finalised, subject, of course, to the length of process
being reasonable;"

On 1st April 1987 a Mr. Meeson, an assistant manager in
the financial recovery department, wrote to Mr. Tropp. He
said this:

*It has been brought to my attention that you have
recently bezen in communication with the chief
gxecutive. I have been informed of the terms of your
agreement and will now put that in place with our
lawyers with instructions that the various documents
should be sent to you as a matter of urgency. . ."

On 14th May 1957 Mr. Meeson sent a further letter to
Mr. Tropp. In this he said that he had still noc
received the paperwork from the lawyers, but said that
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he ‘had hot. forgotten the matier and would reveit as ‘soon
as possible.

On September 30th 1957 Mr. Tropp: wrote to Mr. Sandler,

Saying,;amongﬁt other things, the following:

*Your peopie .obvipusly are not fo1iow1ng through- on
their Aprll and May promise of draft. ettliemsnt
.1anguage_

On 19th Mdy 1998 Mr. Coldbeck now, of the finanecial
recovery départmeént, wrote to Mr. Tropp and he Said this:

"I understand that you met with Michael Meseson
redently, who roquested that I write to you regarding
the. pOSSLblllLV of a settlement with Lloyds. As T
understand it, a settlement has been. agreed in.
1pr1n01§le, whereby you will pay to Lloyds &5, 000, in
settlement of your liabilities and enter into. an
1ndlv1dua1 Names sebtlement agreement. In this regard
_ I have to say that the agreement is still in the
;process of heing drafted. NeverL%elegm, I am enclosing
a copy. of the latest draft of that agreement for your
information, but must stress that as yet it is a draft
only. When the agreement has been finalised I will
gend you a copy for execution, but in the meantime kil
you have any gueries please give‘me a call.®

On Sth July 1938 Mr. Holden, the head of the financial
recovery department, wrote to Mr. Tropp in a letter headed
"Subject to contract." He said, amongst: other things, this:

"I can assure you that owr records reflect the
agreement made, being that subjezt to you completlng
the individual settlement agreement {a copy of which
will be sent to you in due course) a payment of 85,000
will be accepted in full and final settlement of your
Lloyds liabilities.

He suggested that the draft agreement would be
available shortly thereafter.

On 16th November 1998 a further letter was sent from a
Miss Slngletcn in the financial recovery erartment
suggesting a draft form of agreement. Again this was headed
“Subject to contract.®

On 28th November 1998 Mr. Tropp wrote again to
Mr. Sandler objecting to the standard form of agreement which
had now been sent to him and in particular raising objection
to the inclusion in that form of an acknowledgment of debl.
Mr. Tropp sald this:
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AU the most fundamental level were I to sign. on to
this I wouldlbe signing what I know to be untrue. I
simply do nekt sign. untruths.  You will moreover
recognise Clause 7.2 inter a71a as being inconsistent:
with our discussion of March 97, The upshot of our
dis cussion was that we agreed in principle on an
individual settlement agreement: in which Bauitas was
{we discussed this and you reassured me on it}
expl:cztly'to play no part. This ISA was Tather to be
a ron-contingent: 'Tfull. and final! resolution and
parting between Lloyds - not Equitas - and mé. It ‘was
to be closure with, if you will, finality."®

On 1%9th May 1985 Mr. Tropp wrote to' Miss Singleton. He
sald this: )

"Lloyds offered me ift March 1997 an individudl
settlement agreement’ and I accépted. My acceptance and
the discussion with Lloyds that led up to it was
expressly premised on Lloyds assurance that I would not
be reguired to acknowledge what the R & R flnallLY
statement had répresented as ‘my' 'debt’ which T
believe it not Lo bé. This assurance by Llcyds was the
fundamental predicate in reliance on which T agreed in
principle with Lloyds at that time to settlé. It was
expressly understood on your side that this was the
underlying context of our discussion and that I would
not have agreed to scttle absent Lloyd's dispositive
assurance on this ba81c point. An "individual:
settlement agreenent: is what Lhe term 'individual’
suggests. One that is pegotiated in its essentials
satisfying both parties. This is what I agreed to and
what your institution agreed to. The ‘standard!
agreement you now push me Lo sign is an oxymoron. when
considered tegether with the ‘*dindividual' one to which
Lioyds agreed. The: standard agresment is not a
fulfillment of Lloyds' word given to me, bub rather
would be an unsesmly reneging on the institution's
word. . "

On November 30th 1998 Mr. Tropp wrote again to
Mr. Sandler. He was complaining of the stance then taken by
Mr. Holden and Mr. Tropp summarised his complaint ds follows:

"In a word he will not keep the in-principle bargain
which you and struck over one and a half year's ago,
and indeed he professes ignorance of it.*

There then follows a nhote made by Mr, Sandler
himself to Mr. Holden. There was some debate aboutb the
correct dating of that note. I cannot for today's purposes
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resolve it, but fortunately the dite does not matter. It
said this, comménting on & further document received from Mr.
Tropp: ‘

"For the record I have néver discussed with Rick

the specifics of any settlement (other than the amount)
and have not réached an 'in principle agreement’
regarding the ‘substance/udrding of any settlement.. .
He has refeyred répeatedly in the past to his
‘counter-measures* which he now plans to activate.
Interesting to see what they will belr

Nearly finally, on the 2nd March 2000 there was a still
Jfurther letter from Mr. Tropp to Mr. Holden. He said he
had been taken aback by the stance taken By Mr: Holden.

He, that is Mr. Tropp, was simply’ intent on implementing
‘the substance of the agreement whickh he said he had. He
said further that if Mr. Holden was riow refusing to procesd
with him then Lloyd's would be reneging on an agresment its
:chief executive had made. He ‘continued:

"This would put Lloyds into the position of being in
breach of contract with me after a teasing almost three
years. off having led me on to believe that vou would
execute on an ISA - three vears during which in
detrimental reliance on Lloyds word I have foregone
pursuing available remedies to get recovery.”

Subsequently Mr. Tropp himself drafted the terms for an
individual settlement agreement. It was not a particularly
short document; it was single spaced and some three pages
long.

Finally in this chunk of correspondence or exchanges,
on the 2nd March 2000 Mr. Holden wrote to Mr. Tropp thanking
him for his letter of 27th February encltosing Mr. Tropp's
version of an individual settlement agreement. Mr. Holden
conbinued as follows:

“You have been advised on numercus occasions that the
standard agreement with a non-accepting name (the
agreement) is not open to negotiation or amendment,
although I did agree Lo a minor amendment to the
agreement during our telephone conversation of 15th
December 1893, which was a concession to you alone.
Aeecordingly, the version of the agreement that you have
submitted is unacceptable to Lloyds. 2s it would
appear that you are not prepared to execule the
agreement in its present format, the offer of
settlement is now withdrawn and Lloyds will pursue such
action as it deems appropriate Lo recover the amount of
your gross liability together with interest and costs



theretoc. I appreciate that this is wot the: response
that, you would have wished for, However watters cannot
be left dn. abeyance indefinitely.n

There was 1o statement from Mr. .Sandler hlmseix, apaxrt

Erom the note £6 which I have referred but on his: behalf

Lioyd!s deny: thaf he had given any undertaklng as: Lo the form
on. which gny settlement would be concluged.

‘Unfortanately, though the parties were uthln a, whigker

-bi settlemeﬁt, they ultimately drew further apart. That is a
matter mich to be regretted, though it is not for me to

assign blame and,lndeed I .am not. in a positien to do 'so.. The

sticking point; as it appears, was the gquestion of an

achnowledgment Of debt. The "old" ISR contained no-such

provision, the later form did. Mr. Tropp told me that he

would not sign @n agreement containing such an acknewledgment

{1} ‘Bécause he would be liable bto tax or might be- on
the :difference between the settlement figure and
the acknowledgment of debt figure. He! was
@pprehensive of the view which the United States
IRS would or might take.

(2} Because it was morally wrong to ackiiowledge
Iiability when he did not think he was liable.

{3} Because in the event 0f Bguitas failing he would
ke admitting liability in that figure in the event
of any future claims against Names.

However, Mr. Tropp argued thaf Mr. Sandler had
committed Lloyd's to a settlement on the old form. Lleyd's

and Mr. Sandler were mistaken when they sought to say that he

had notb entered into any such commitment and had simply noted
Mr. Tropp’s confern. In short, Mr. Tropp said there had been
an immediately binding oral settlement agreement in March
1297 on terms, amongst other things, that the 0ld form would

be used.

Although, as foreshadowed, this suggested defence did
require closer examination, ultimately the position certainly
‘a8 bo the principal sum is clear beyond realistic argument to
the contrary. I would not have been minded to give summary
Judgment if the matier hinged on the disputed question of
what Mr. Sandler had said, whether he gave an assurance that
the old form should be used or whether he simply acknowledged
Mr. Tropp's concern. That, had it mattered, would plainly
have besn a triable issue. Instead I make the assumption
most favourable fo Mr. Tropp that Mr. Sandler did give the
-assurance for which he contends, namely, a settlement would
be entered into on the c¢ld form without an acknowledgment of
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Here, as it scems Lo me; Mr. Tropp!s argument: begins to

Ebreak.down Everd assunlng"uch an, assurance: had been given,
At would ot hely Mr. Tropp 1
‘there wag & réal prospect o
binding oral settlement. agloe_ nt, ‘But to my mind any such
Contentien 1% fanciful. The: reasons why there cannot even

nless it could be said that
tending for am immediately

arguably have ‘been an oral, settlement are Qverwhelmlng

First,; there ig the hlstory of the previous episodé
Of settlement negotlatlons It is clear from those, not

Jeast in ‘the letker written by Mr. Tropp himself, that the

emphasis was on achieving a written settlement agreement.
There: wag no intention to conclude an oral settlement
agreemnent.

‘Secondly, it is simply 1nherently inplausible, to the

extent -of being fanciful, that in this eontext there would

have been an oral settlement -agreemént or that both parties
intended to agree one. There :is the complexity of the
natter, there ig the guestion of agsignments and recoveries
and there is the guestion of the involvemént of third parties
in any release. It is of course true that pariies sometbimes
make mistakes and achieve an agreemeént where either one or
both does not: realise that such hags been done, but 1 do not
think, even arguably, thabt that situation arises here.

Thirdly, there is the question of language used in the
lengthy exchange of materials which I have read. Those
exchanges talk of a process -of settlement, of draft
settlement language, of agreément in principle, of agreements
being subject to contract and of full drafts having been
submitted. The language is 1edolenL if I may say so, of

parties whose clear intention. is only to enter into a binding

agreement when there has been a written document properly
exacuted.

Fourthly, do far as the old form itself goes, it is

apparent from the way in which Mr. Tropp puts his suggested

settlement agreement that it was not a case of simply

-incorporating the ISA lock, stock and barrel into the
agreement. It was a gquestion of addressing the old form ISA
as part of the settlement process. Mr. Tropp very fairly
said that he was not anticipating the old form word for word,

but from his discussions with Mr. Sandler was expecting
subsgtantially if not exactly that. But as it seems to me,

even taken at 1ts most favourable, the parties must have been
contemplating further negotiations on the precise wording of

the old form with regard to what would finally enter into a
sebtlement agreement.
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Fifthlv, the contéext Was that ‘of thé R. & R scheme.
Oral agreements of settlement’ in that context wouid be &
recipe for chaos and nothing in Mr, Tropp 5 contemporaneous
communications suggested that even he tbought otherwige. It
is a feature ©f the exchanges that it is only much iater that

My, Tropp talks of an dgreemenL or & breach Toxil contract. In

the earlier exchanges he is talking of mo more: than. an
agreement in principle and 1ook1ng For drafts sptt?ement
language.

For completeness, nothing less than an immediately

binding ordl Jettlcmcnt agreement can essist Mr. Tropp.
Anything less than that could, in oy judgment, amount to- no
more than a non- blndlng agreement t¢ agree. Alternatively,

viewed as some sort of estoppel, it wonld. entail achieving

‘the same effect as a settlement agveement_uslng_cstoppel

impermissibly as a sword rather than a shield.

 Finally dn this regard, thexe is the guestion of
Mr. Tropp saying that he relied ‘on. assurdnces and did not

pursue cther reccoveries. I awm.bound to Say, with respect,

that I regazd this as fanciful. First of all, as it sesems to
me, there is not even arguably a clesr representabion upon

which he can rely. If, necessarily on this hypothesis, there
was no binding agreement, then at the very most there was a

suggestion of negotiations. Again, &s 4t geems Lo me, and as

My . Tropp well knew, those negotiaticns might or mlght not
come o Eruition. Secondiy, it dis fanciful fo suggest that
‘thers was reliance. Going right back to the first episode in
ithe settlement discussions, Mr. Tropp had made it clear that
against the risk of settlement negotlatlcns ultimately
failing he was keeping his powder dry. I <can sSee no reason,

even arguably, against that background why the position
should later on have been any different. In any event, it is

plain that by 16th November 1958 when a different form of

draft had been sent to him from that which he says he was
expecting, it would have been clear to him that he could no
longer rely on receiving some other form of agreement.

Ultimately, as it seems to me, on this matter the choice
lies between an agreement subject to a contract necessarily
in writing, or an immediately binding agreement with the
writing only a formality. That question answers itself; only
the former is a realistic candidate. In the circumstances
there is, therefore, no useful purpose in ordering
gdisclosure, or further information, or reguiring Mr. Sandler
to attend to be cross-examined. In short, the defence of
settiement, subject only to the question of interest, with
which ¥ still have to deal, is not fit to go to trial.

The final matter is the question of interest. The point
here is this: Mr. Sandler recorded the position on 25th
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March 1997 on the basis that no writ would be issued unkil
the *priocéss was finalised". RAs it seems to mc; the process
was mot "finalised" until 2nd March 2000. What then of the
questicn of interest? Mr. Tropp's submission was sudcinct.
There was no guestion of a claim until the proceéss was
finalised. There was, he said, no question ‘of any interest
from before that date. In short, interest was not Lo run
until; after 2nd March 2000. '

Mr. Yeo's response was equally succinct: Llaydls had
bzen kept out. of its money. The suggestion that no writ
would be issued until the sSettlement process had been
finalised was a common sense and sensible measure while _
negotiations were continuing. If negotiations succeeded, all
well and .good. If they did not, all bets were off. Lloyd's
was entitled to interest as claimed.

I prefer Mr. Yeo's argument. I seems to me that the

very sensible interregnum while settlement discussions were

underway was no more than that, If :seftlement: was not
achieved then there is no reason why Lloyd's should be kept
out of the interest due on the debt which it is seeking to
recover.

I add only this. Mr. Tropp asked that I should not
enter judgment because of the adverse impact. it would lave on
what I may respectfully term his good works in the developing
world. I am not sure for my part why that should be 80, but
even assuming that it is, that cannot be a reason on which it
couid be right to condemn both the parties to a trial on
issues on which Mr. Tropp has no arguable prospects of
SUCCEesSs.

I accordingly decide that summary judgment should be
given to Lloyd's for the principal sum plus interest as
claimed. T shall lock to Mr. Yeo, to whom I have beén
immensely grateful for his thorough and fair presentation, to
draw up the order and explain it to Mr. Tropp.

Postscript: After the hearing, I received a lengthy
letter (or submission) from Mr. Tropp, dated 9”‘June, 2004,
together with attached schedules. Mr. Tropp invited me 'to
recongider and vary® certain matters in the above Judgment .
Save to say that (1) I have had careful regard to this
material and (2) with respect, I am not persuaded to make any
variation to the judgment in the light of it, no further
comment is called fox.




